When Kildwick Church nearly fell down
Z and what was done to save it

Introduction

The history of Kildwick Church is long and rather complicated. Even a cursory examination by
someone, such ake author of this piecewho has naealunderstanding of architectural history
leads to the conclusion that the current building has been extensivatyagelled over the years
with various extensionaddedand changes to the rodine made

Exterior of Kildwick Church, showing the south side of the building.
Thecleardbreake in the roof-line indicates the start of the Tudor exterisn.

The gerrally accepted view, taken from a number of histories, is that the earliest part of the current
building is at the wesénd, and that this dates from the early 1300s; the tower is slightly later, from
the mid-1300s; the central section dates to the riid00s; and the easend is from around 1505.

The porch is Victorian.
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The first signs of trouble

In the 1890s it became clear that some of the workmanship in these various phases of building was
less than wonderful.

| KILDWICXK. \
FaLn oF A BEam N THE CHURcH.—Early on
Monday morning last the vioar discovered that one of
the large oak beams, which are placed as a cornioce
around the top of- the walls in the Church, at the
height of about eight yards, had, through some un-
accountable means, fallen into the body of the church,

and in so doing had split the pew top on which it '

alighted and broken the book rack and case clean cff. |
) A joiner was at once.callod in, and replaced the fallen
| beam, and also tested the whole cornice, and in
addition made them all secure by driviog in nails, 8o
' a8 to provent the poestbility of a farther fall. Had
this happened the previous evening the result would
have been difficult to predict, asa communicants’
clasa was held after evensong, and the bulk sat
direotly on the gpot upon which it fell. Thera is now

no possibility of a second occurrence, the beams
baviog been made firmer than when first put in.

Craven Herald 8/4/1892

So, that was all sorted then ?



Well, goparently not Although no newspaper reports have been foundbiés seem that someone
was rather concerned about the condition of the church fabric,atc meeting of the church
management committee in May 1897, it was decided to ask the professional opinion of an architect.

The full nature of the problem

By the el of May 1897the architect had reported backt was not good news. He recommended
K NG pa of the Church east of the pulpit should be used until restored".
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Area of the church thought unsafe as ofMay 1897
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But exactlyhow dangerous was the building ?

The report of the same meeting in the Keighley News included a quote from the architecfitidatP
he was strongly abpinion that the church must be looked to without unnecessary delay. The
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The situation was urgent. So what was to be done ?

Some of he pillars at the east end of the churdhose identified as being the mostdangerous
condition,were propped but beyond that very little work was donetbe building for the next four
and a half years !

Problems, discussions and delays (1897 z 1901)

1897

In November 1897 a Church Restoration Committee was formed, with the ctuanatens acting as
members, with Dr. Fletcher and Mr. F.G. Peacock, as SaegetAustin and Palegf Lancaster were
appointed as architects.

Theimmediateproblem wasmoney. The church had none; in fact it was in défat. initial appeal

for funds wadargelyunsuccessful and it was left to members of the parish to try ane rfaisds. An
undated article in the Craven Herald records ladies of the parish providing tea every other Tuesday
at 6d each¢ but it was cleafrom the outset that the work would take more money than could be
raised from the parishioners alone.

The financal situationwas exacerbated by the fact thaturprising though thisight sound to a
modernday lay person, the church magement committee did not have tHell say oerwhat

could be dme to the church building. The east end of the buildjilge secton most in need to

attention ¢ was the responsibility of Christ Church, in Oxford. Other smaller areas, including the two
chapels at the east end were the responsibility of private patrons.

Christ Church initially disputed exactly how much of the area tbquired attention was their
responsibilityg a disagreement thaivent onuntil March 1900 Nevertheless they agreed &m
immediate donation of £300.

1898
In January an appeal was launched to raise funds forebkration work.

In September the vicaRev. A.D.C. Thompson, wrote to the restoration committee announcing that
he intended to tell the congregation that the building had been declaredafthough there iso
evidenceof this being the case and that the choir would resume their seaia (he area which
Peterson had described as unsafe).

Theviewsof the committee, the congregatioand the choir are not known. But if this did happen it
must have been ahort-lived, andpotentiallydangerous, experiment.



In November an architecppointed by Christ Church visited the church and noted that the building
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building and that the organ be temporarily moved to the west end of the churchafetys In his

letter to the committee he included a newspaper clipping about a church in France that had recently
collapsed following a storm.

1899

In January 1899 any progress on the restoration work came to a suddewhaett,the vicar
resigned RevThompson had been in ill health for some time and the strain oféiseoration work
plus the demands made upon him by the typhoid epidetién ragingn the villageled him to
announce hismmediatedeparture.

In June there was a flurry tdtters between Christ Church and the new vicar, Rev. E.H. Morris.
Christ Church were concerned that there was no plan for the restoration ofkiode church,

beyond the section for which they were responsible. They felt that thexsglittle point spending
money o their sectionif, subsequentlythe rest of the building was found to be in a bad condition.

In October the mill owner Mr. James Bairstow agreed to act as Treasurer to the restoration
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In November aepresentativefrom Austin and Paley visited to prepare the definitive specification
for the restoration workas requested by Christ Church. Their full report was presented in
December.

This extended the area requiring attémm furtherwest thanthe original plan and a
recommendation was made for the immediate ppingup of the pillar to the wst of the organ.
The cost of the restoration work would increase2fso.
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Area of the church thoughto require attention (shaded) as ofDecember 1899

However there was some good news for the church. In their investigations the architects found that

the original chancel (the area for which Christ Church were responsible) also extended fetter
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once work had started.



1900
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which included details of the £1185 already raised by the church; and in March a group of potential

donors was shown around the building.

The full amount given by donors during the whole of 1900 totalled juBO£3A church bazaar, held
over three days in Juneaised over £540The Duke of Devonshire made an interesting offer: that
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On March 26th the restoration committee reiwed a letter from Christ Church offering the church
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By the end of the year a full and final set of plans forréstorationwere in placeand work was
ready to start. Unfortunately, at his critical moment the vicar decided to go on holiday to France
for four months!

1901
The vicar returned to Kildwick in March and immediately tendered his resignation.
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at the first meeting of the restoration committee he attended, in June, the new vicar asked for a
range of changes to be made to the previously agreed plans.

These largely involved an internal reorganisation of the church, maitiyregard to the private

chapels athe north-east and soutkeastcorners of the building He also wanted some of the

private pews to be made available for use by the chail insisted that the work be done in phases

so that a part of the church would be awdile for services throughout period of the restoration.
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chapels and pews, necgfsting further delayg and a further increase in the cost of the work.

Localcompanies were invited to tender for the work to be carried out and, on October 11th, the
following tenders were accepted:

Mr. John Baitt, Kildwick (Stonemason) £ 16000-0
Messrs. Judson & Steele, Keighléginers) £ 10460-0
Mr John GreenwoodCrosshill§Plasterers & Slaters) £ 69-10-0
Messrs. Lambert & Son, Hawoiflumbers) £ 2760-0
Laycock & Bannister (Organ works) £ 1650-0
Total: £ 315610-0

So everything looked to be in place and ready to go. What could possiblyhivadd tip now ?

It seems that late in October Christ Church withdrew their offer of £750 on the grounds that it had
been made before the recent revisions to the plan. A angry exchange of letters then took place,
including one sent by the former vicar, REvH. Morris, to the committee. He wrote:

What has gone wrong ? The £750 was agreed. | was present and will be prepared to
act as a witness !



The promised amount was finaltpnfirmed byChrist Church in mitllovember. However the
money was only handeover ininstalmentsas sections of the work was completed. This led to
angry exchanges between titemmitteeand Christ Church on more than one occasion.

The final service before the restoration work commenced was held on the Sunday before Advent;
November 24th, 19011t was almost 10 years since the first report of structural problems was
reported.

Restoration work (1901 z 1903)

NOTE In addition to stuctural work done on the church, the restoration projdsb@volved work

on the organthe installation ofa new heating systenandreplacemengaslighting. See
AppendixA for details of some of the work done on the organ. As for the ritsgugh these form
interestingstories inthemselves they lie outside the scope of this piece and are referenced only in
passing.

The day after the final service wook the restoration of the churchbegan.

All the moveable furniture: screens, pews, etc., were taken out and put into storage. A wooden
partition was then built between the fifth pillars from the east emctending across the full width of
the building The altar waset up in front of the partition and it was here, the western part of the
churchthat services were conducted between December 1st 1901 and September 21st 1902.
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Location of the protective partition(red) ¢ 25/11/1901 to 20/9/1902
and the work carriedout in December 1901 andanuary 1902 (shaded)

On December 2nd, the plaster was stripped off the four arches and pillars on the south side that had
been previously been proppeglshown shaded above. Cracks were found in a number of the pillars
and arches, with one pillar cracked diagonally almost fropnto bottom.

The reason why the pillars were leaning towards the south was also found. None of them had
foundations and had been erected on the surface of the soil, or only a few inches beneath, and over
graveswhich had subsequently collapsed



All four pillars and archesnd the wall above that the arches supported were demolished. It was
during this work that the wall above the arches would found to contain blocks of stone with carved
scrollwork, later identified as being fragments of Saxon (aljuAngleDanish) crosses dating from
around 950AD.

New foundations were dug for all four pillars, to epth of six feet, and filledith concrete.

OnJanuary 18th 1903 ceremonial laying dhe newfoundationstoneswas carried out.They were
laid by (west to east):

Mr. John Clougfof Steetong a significant contributor to the restoration fund
Mr. F. E. Slingsby, of Farnhill Halhember of the restoration committee

Dr. Fletcher, of Crosshiltditto
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Each of thdour were presented witla commemorative silver trowed one of which has recently
been donated to the church.
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Ceremonial trowel presented to Mr. John Clough of Steeton

Sadly John Clough did not live to see the work on Kildwick Church completedy 9®B, on a visit
to Blackpool, he was knocked down and killed by an electric tram. Dr. Fletcher also died soon after
the ceremonyjn February 1903.



Once the foundation stones were laid the pillars, arches and wall was rebuilt using the old stones
where possible and new stones where the old ones could not hesee.

Three of the four rebuilt pillars and arches at the sou#fast of the church

Attention then turned to the external wall of the south aisle and its roof.

Location of the work carried out on the roof and inside of the south wall
in Februaryand March1902 (shaded)

It was found that the spars holding up theof of the singlestorey south aisle were rotten and
needed to be replaced



This work involved remowg the existing plaster on the inside of the south wall. It had been hoped
to then just repoint the stonework, however it was found that the size and quality of the stones did
not allow repointing, and the wall would need to be-mastered.

With strudural work completed on the south side of the building, attention was mestted to the
four pillars and arches ahe north side.
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Location of work carried oubn the northsidepillars
in Marchand April 1902 (shaded)

On April 19th, the foundation stes of the four new pillars on the north side were laid by (west to
east):

T Mr. James Bairstoyof Sutton¢ mill owner

1 Mr. F. G. Peacock, of Crosshjlsommittee member

1 Mrs. Atkinson, of Headingleydaughter of the Rev. J.T.C. Fawcett (former vicar)
1 Mr. Frank Lacegf Crosshills.

At almost the same time, agreement was finally reached with the owner of the chapel in the north
east corner of the buildinfthe Currer Chapel) to remove a memorial locaitedront of the window
in the eastwall and placetion the north wall.

This reordering of the chapel turned out to be rather fortuitous as it was quickly found that part of
the north wall of the chaped the exterior wall of the building was leaning inwards.



Location of work carried oubn the north side of the buildingduring May and Jund902(shaded)

The roof was removed and the external wall taken down. Here again it was found that this wall had
no foundations, having been built directly on the ground surface.

Currer Chapellooking east, without a roof and with part of the north wall taken dowr(June 1902)



